2005

# Kathleen Lenay Huish v. Glen Frank Munro : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

**JURISDICTION**

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to § 78-2a-3(2)(j).

**ISSUES PRESENTED AND STANDARD OF REVIEW**

1. Whether Appellant was deprived of her due process rights when the trial court refused to allow her to present her case in chief.

Standard of Review: Constitutional issues, including questions regarding due process, are questions of law that the Appellate Court reviews for correctness. *Chen v. Stewart*, 2004 UT 82, 100 P.3d 1177.

Citation to Record: Kathy never rested ((9RT: 1521-1523); on the 10<sup>th</sup> day of trial, the trial court ruled that Kathy had rested and prevented her from putting on her case-in-chief ((10RT: 1724-1732)

2. Whether res judicata and issue preclusion prevent appellee from re-litigating the issue of custody.

Standard of Review: A court's legal conclusion as to whether a material change of

circumstances has occurred is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Sigg v. Sigg*, 905 P.2d 908 (Utah App.1995)

Citation to Record: Appellee's verified petition to modify (CT: 1878-1883); Decree of Paternity (CT: 1467-1481) and various cites to the transcripts of the proceedings.

3. The trial court erred by first allowing Dr. Christy to testify without first determining whether a substantial and material change of circumstance had occurred.

Standard of Review: A court's legal conclusion as to whether a material change of circumstances has occurred is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Sigg v. Sigg*, 905 P.2d 908 (Utah App.1995)

Citation to Record: Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (CT: 2787-2805)

4. The findings and conclusions were not supported by the evidence and/or were improper.

Standard of Review: A trial court's factual findings may not be disturbed unless it clearly erroneous. *Sigg, supra*, at 908.

Citation to Record: Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (CT: 2787-2805)

5. Finding 7, even though supported by the evidence, is legally incorrect.

Standard of Review: Review for correctness the trial court's interpretation of the law with no discretion granted to the trial court. *Jones v. Barlow*, 2007 UT 20, ¶¶ 10, 11.

Citation to Record: Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (CT: 2787-2805)

6. Finding 8 is not supported by the evidence and does not constitute grounds for modification.

Standard of Review: Review for correctness the trial court's interpretation of the law with no discretion granted to the trial court. *Jones v. Barlow*, 2007 UT 20, ¶¶ 10, 11. A trial

court's factual findings may not be disturbed unless it clearly erroneous. *Sigg, supra*, at 908.

Citation to Record: Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (CT: 2787-2805)

7. Finding 10 is not supported by the evidence.

Standard of Review: A trial court's factual findings may not be disturbed unless it clearly erroneous. *Sigg, supra*, at 908.

Citation to Record: Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (CT: 2787-2805)

8. The last sentence of finding 10 is not supported by the evidence.

Standard of Review: A trial court's factual findings may not be disturbed unless it clearly erroneous. *Sigg, supra*, at 908.

Citation to Record: Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (CT: 2787-2805)

9. Finding 11 is an erroneous legal conclusion.

Standard of Review: Review for correctness the trial court's interpretation of the law with no discretion granted to the trial court. *Jones v. Barlow*, 2007 UT 20, ¶¶ 10, 11.

Citation to Record: Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (CT: 2787-2805)

10. Finding 13, even though supported by the evidence is factually incomplete and legally incorrect.

Standard of Review: Review for correctness the trial court's interpretation of the law with no discretion granted to the trial court. *Jones v. Barlow*, 2007 UT 20, ¶¶ 10, 11. A trial court's factual findings may not be disturbed unless it clearly erroneous. *Sigg, supra*, at 908.

Citation to Record: Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (CT: 2787-2805)

11. Finding 15(a) is unsupported by the record.

Standard of Review: A trial court's factual findings may not be disturbed unless it clearly erroneous. *Sigg, supra*, at 908.

Citation to Record: Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (CT: 2787-2805)

12. Finding 15(b) is unsupported by the record.

Standard of Review: A trial court's factual findings may not be disturbed unless it clearly erroneous. *Sigg, supra*, at 908.

Citation to Record: Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (CT: 2787-2805)

13. Finding 15(c) is not supported by the evidence.

Standard of Review: A trial court's factual findings may not be disturbed unless it clearly erroneous. *Sigg, supra*, at 908.

Citation to Record: Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (CT: 2787-2805)

14. Finding 16 is an erroneous legal conclusion.

Standard of Review: Review for correctness the trial court's interpretation of the law with no discretion granted to the trial court. *Jones v. Barlow*, 2007 UT 20, ¶¶ 10, 11.

Citation to Record: Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (CT: 2787-2805)

15. Whether the actions of Dr. Valerie Hale, as Special Master, were in violation of the canons of judicial ethics and so tainted the judicial process that Kathy was effectively deprived of her rights of due process.

Standard of Review: Constitutional issues, including questions regarding due process, are questions of law that the Appellate Court reviews for correctness. *Chen v. Stewart*, 2004 UT 82, 100 P.3d 1177.

Citation to Record: The Statement of Facts indicate that Dr. Valerie Hale, when acting as a special master, accepted money from the firm of Paige Bigelow to review Dr. Gages' evaluation (¶ 38), had many ex parte communications with Paige Bigelow (¶ 38), and wrongfully submitted documents to the court without prior notification to the parties (¶ 39).

## **DETERMINATIVE STATUTES AND RULES**

Utah Code Ann. § 30-3-10.1, Utah Code Ann., § 30-3-10.4 [2001]; Utah Code Ann. § 30-3-10 [2004]; § 30-3-37, Utah Code Ann., and Rule 4-903(5)(D), Judicial Council Rules.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Taylor was born as issue to the parties on July 11, 1996. (CT: 1468.) The parties lived together for approximately 3 years prior to the birth of Taylor. (1RT: 20.) A Decree of Paternity was entered on July 8, 2002, declaring Glen as father. (CT: 1467-1475.) From the moment of separation (March, 1999) until the date of the modification trial which began on July 13, 2004, the parties experienced ongoing, serious conflict and problems. (10 RTO: 1752.) From 1999 to September of 2001, a hotly contested custody battle ensued in this case between Kathy and Glen. (CT: 2210.) The court appointed an independent custody evaluator, Dr. Carol F. Gage, to perform an evaluation and to provide a written report to the court, which she did. (CT: 2166-2195.) Dr. Gage also submitted a follow-up report in August, 2001. (CT: 2197-2203.) Dr. Gage recommended Kathy be awarded primary physical custody of Taylor. (CT: 2190-2192, 2202.) On July 8, 2002, a Decree of Paternity was entered. (CT: 1467-1481.) Glen had the opportunity to litigate custody at the scheduled evidentiary hearing; however, he refused to do so because of the adverse custody evaluation of Dr. Carol Gage. (1RT: 11; 3RT: 553-554.) On March 18, 2003, Glen filed a verified petition to modify, alleging that in a short 8 months, the Decree had suddenly become unworkable and that substantial and material changes of circumstances had occurred. (CT: 1878-1883.) On April 11, 2003, a letter was submitted to Glen's attorney providing her with Notice of Relocation of Custodial Parent and on May 1, 2003, an Amended Notice of Relocation of Custodial Parent. (CT: 2205-2207.) On July 11, 2003, Dr. Monica Christy

was appointed to perform another custody evaluation (1RT: 39) which she did on March 25, 2004 (Dr. Christy Evaluation, attached to Brief as Addendum 1.) Dr. Christy recommended a change of custody from Kathy to Glen. A trial commenced on the verified petition for change of custody on July 13, 2004 and concluded on September 15, 2004. ((11RT: 2184.) During the trial, Kathy, upon questioning by the trial court, stated she would not be moving to Kwajalein and was committed to continue to live in Murray as she had done since 1999. (1RT: 116.) On April 11, 2005, the trial court entered its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Decree Modifying the Paternity Decree. These documents mandated a transfer of primary physical custody of Taylor to Glen. (CT: 2787-2817.) Kathy timely filed a notice of appeal May 11, 2005.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

1. Based upon the fact that the trial in the above-captioned matter lasted eleven days and included approximately 2184 pages of transcript which contained hundreds of evidentiary facts, pursuant to Rule 24(a)(11)(C), U.R.App.P., Kathy is including in her addenda a citation to those portions of the record that are of central importance to the determination of the appeal in addition to the exhibits received into evidence with cites.

2. At the outset of trial, Kathy informed the trial court that she was not moving to Kwajalein, that Kwajalein was no longer an issue. (7RT: 987.)

3. Taylor born July 11, 1996. (1 RT: 20.) The parties lived together for approximately 3 years prior to the birth of Taylor. (1RT: 20.)

4. Glen admitted that Kathy was a fit mother, a good mother. (3RT: 656-657.)

5. Patricia Perkins, Taylor's second grade teacher, testified that she placed parents into two categorizes: "there's the parent that is responsible for [the child's] care, they make

sure that they take a bath, they brush their teeth, they have discipline, they go to bed on time and have the right amount of sleep and that kind of thing. I give them the name the caregiver parent and that is Kathy. Then there seems to be always the parent who is the entertainer, and everything that child does when they go to that parent is camping and boating and traveling and all the fun stuff. And then as far as Taylor's parents, I perceived his father to be that fun parent, the one that he did all the fun things with and didn't seem to do the academic things." (4RT: 763-764.) This testimony directly contradicts ¶ 10 of the findings regarding the trial court's inability to determine which parent is responsible for Taylor doing well.

6. In his verified petition filed only 8 months after the entry of the Decree, Glen alleged that a substantial and material change of circumstance suddenly occurred making the joint custody arrangement unworkable. (CT: 1878-1883.) However, the two evaluations of Dr. Carol Gage indicate otherwise – that the problems between the parties as alleged by Glen in his modification petition have always been there, they have always been ongoing since prior to March, 1999. (CT: 2167-2203, Addenda, Appendix 9.) Moreover, ¶¶ 2, 3, 4, and 5 of the Findings evince that the problems alleged in the petition to modify did not occur subsequent to the Decree, that they were long-standing and dating back 5 years.

7. In opening argument, Glen's attorney, stated that the relationship was always troubled from its inception causing Kathy to move back to Murray. (1 RT: 6.)

8. In opening argument, Glen's attorney, stated that Glen had the opportunity and ability to contest custody in the initial proceeding; however, he refused to do so because of the adverse recommendations of Dr. Carol Gage fearing he would not obtain custody. (1 RT: 11.) Glen admitted that during the first trial in the above-captioned action, that he intended to litigate custody. He also admitted that he had the opportunity to have custody litigated and

was given that opportunity but failed to avail himself of that opportunity. (3RT: 553-554.)

9. Dr. Christy testified that the conflict and problems between the parties have been ongoing since 1999 to August 24, 2004. (10 RT: 1752.)

10. Regarding the conflict, Glen testified that “its been going on because we’ve been having problems” for five years, from 1999 forward. (3RT:511-512.) He provided further proof that no substantial and material change of circumstance occurred after the entry of the decree of paternity. Glen testified about the problems the parties experienced after their breakup. (3RT: 512, 516-17, 521 525.)

11. The *Decree of Paternity* entered July 8, 2002, provides in ¶3, “Petitioner Kathy Lenay Huish shall be designated primary physical custodial parent. Taylor shall reside with Petitioner in Murray, Salt Lake County, Utah, and shall attend public school in Salt Lake County, State of Utah . . .”. The *Decree* in ¶2 awards the parties joint legal custody of Taylor and provides that they shall have equal decision making authority on decisions impacting Taylor’s health, well being, education, religious training and welfare. The *Decree* ¶4 provides for Respondent’s parenting time consisting of twelve days per month and ten days on alternate months. All remaining parent time is reposed in Petitioner. (CT: 1467-1476.)

12. During her pregnancy, Glen disappeared for five weeks and would not communicate with Kathy. Glen refused to attend any of Kathy’s prenatal doctor’s appointments. She had to go through the pregnancy literally on her own. Kathy even had an amniocentesis because of her getting older; however, Glen refused to support her. “He said, [you] make enough money to take care of [yourself], and he just kind of changed as who I knew Glen to be.” (7RT:1190-1191.)

13. Kathy has been Taylor’s primary caretaker and has been primarily responsible

for his care, control and nurturing from the time of his birth through the trial concluding on September 15, 2004. (CT: 2209-2216, ¶2).

14. After the birth of Taylor, Kathy resided with Glen for a period of time at Mr. Munro's residence in Las Vegas, Nevada. She returned to Murray in March of 1999. In November, 1999, Glen, upon the pretext of taking Taylor to an early Thanksgiving celebration with his family in Montana and promising a return in three days, wrongfully removed him from Kathy's custody and kept him incommunicado for more than 33 days until the trial court ordered Glen to return Taylor to Kathy. Furthermore, this wrongful taking and holding him incommunicado for 33 days had a devastating effect on Taylor, again demonstrating that all Glen cares about is himself, not Taylor. Taylor has since resided with Kathy in her home in Murray, Utah. (7RT:1153-1155, CT: 2209-2216, ¶ 3.)

15. While Glen was in Vegas, he filed a petition for custody and had Kathy served with papers he filed in Nevada (November 20, 1999). Subsequently, Commissioner Arnett awarded Kathy temporary full custody of Taylor. (7RT:1207-1208.) The trial court found that Kathy had been the primary caretaker of Taylor since March, 1999. Moreover, the trial court found that Kathy has acted in the best interest of the minor child by facilitating a meaningful relationship between Taylor and Glen, "but [Glen] has not acted the same in regard to creating a meaningful relationship between the child and [Kathy] for the reason that [Glen] has kept the minor child since the 17<sup>th</sup> of November, 1999, and has refused to allow [Kathy] to see the minor child. The Court further finds that [Glen] has used self-help in an attempt to improve his situation." (CT: 88-91.) It should be noted that Glen's actions, referred to in CT: 88-91, predated the filing of his petition for modification.

16. Dr. Valerie Hale, who had been assigned Special Master (2RT: 269.), in her

testimony and correspondence spoke of ongoing problems between the parties that predated the filing of the petition to modify. (2RT: 282.)

17. Commissioner Arnett stated in his January 30, 2003 Minute Entry that he had reviewed the court's file, including all five volumes. "It is noteworthy that [Glen] has frequently acted unilaterally, i.e., in initially taking physical custody despite the parties' agreement, making unilateral deductions from child support, etc., but objects when [Kathy] acts without consulting him. Further, the Commissioner has previously found that [Glen] has sought 'extreme sanctions' for relatively minor disputes between the parties. Judge Iwasaki found that certain relief requested by [Glen] was 'Draconian.' Finally, Judge Iwasaki made the finding that this matter had been unnecessarily litigious when he awarded attorney's fees to [Kathy]. [Glen's] current request for a finding of contempt against [Kathy] appears to be in the same vein. The Commissioner cannot find from the evidence currently before the Court that [Kathy] has acted in contempt of the Court's Order and [Glen's] request should be denied." (CT:1725-1728, Petitioner's Exhibit 109 received 2RT: 360-61, 3RT: 627.)

18. Brian Florence was appointed the Special Master in June, 2003. This exhibit, 4<sup>th</sup> paragraph, states, "I have continually asked for Glen's schedules, to no avail. Is this a moot issue? Are we staying with the same old scheduling decree or going through you when Glen needs or wants a particular weekend?" (7 RT: 1233.) This exhibit from Brian Florence clearly indicates that contrary to ¶ 15(c) of the Findings, Glen has refused to abide by court orders and to pay attention to and interpret the orders correctly.

19. Trial Exhibit 139 was received into evidence. (7 RT: 1238.) Exhibit 139 was a letter to the parties from Brian Florence, Special Master, which said, "The concept of exchanging schedules seems to have become a source of irritation and conflict for both of

you. Accordingly, there will be no further need to exchange schedules." (Petitioner's Exhibit 139 received 7RT: 1238.) Still contained in this Exhibit 139 was an admonition from Special Master Florence to Glen: "Glen, I want you to stop referring to problems that you claim preceded my involvement in this case. It is clear that you and Kathy have a difference of opinion as to what has happened in the past and who was responsible, and the fact of the matter is that the past cannot be changed. I can only deal with the future. And, unless I ask for it there's no need for you to provide me with your perceptions of the past. If you do have issues as to Taylor's care, right now, then frame your concern on what is happening right now and not what occurred weeks or months ago. Glen, if you're asking for my involvement then do so directly, do not do it in an e-mail directed to Kathy in an accusatory manner." (7 RT: 1238-1239.) Exhibit 139 clearly refutes the trial court's Findings in ¶ 15(a) where it says that "respondent did not display such negativity toward petitioner".

20. Kathy testified that the e-mail in Exhibit 226 from Glen to her was ridiculing, demeaning, criticizing, and sarcastic. She also testified that this was the way most of Glen's e-mails were. (8 RT: 1457-1459.) Kathy didn't want to communicate with Glen and did not respond to his e-mails because she was tired of being ridiculed, demeaned, and criticized. In fact, Glen's e-mails were so inflammatory that Master Brian Florence entered an order on October 14, 2003, making special mention of these despicable e-mails: "There is one further observation that requires comment of the Special Master. In the original Special Master Order entered on June 23, 2003, the parties were ordered that all communication between them should 'be businesslike with no personal/editorial comments'. They were to refrain from communications which were demanding, positional, challenging or personally insulting. Although both parties have to some degree violated this order, it is the Special Master's view

that Glen has been the one most frequently guilty of using language that is challenging and personally insulting." (Petitioner's Trial Exhibit 57, 12, CT: 2337-2345.) Glen agreed with Brian Florence's assessment since Mr. Florence "took it that way". (3RT: 626.)

21. Brian Florence said Kathy's misinterpretation of the surrogate care provision was an understandable mistake. (Petitioner's Trial Exhibit 57, Addenda, Appendix 12.)

22. Dr. Valerie Hale, special master, testified that Glen's e-mails were filled with capital letters and exclamation points and that she interpreted this to be Glen yelling at Kathy. (2 RT: 313.)

23. During the time the parties lived together in Las Vegas, Patrick lived with them and had been with them since the birth of Taylor. In fact, Patrick has always lived with his brother Taylor, including up to and throughout the modification trial. Kathy testified that "the two of them are perfect together." (7RT:1199.)

24. Dr. Gage performed a child custody evaluation of the parties prior to the entry of the Paternity Decree, from the period of January through August, 2000. (CT: 2166-2195.) She submitted a follow-up evaluation during August, 2001. (CT: 2197-2203.) Dr. Gage judged Kathy to be supportive to a greater extent of Taylor's involvement with Glen than Glen did with Kathy. (CT: 2191.) She also stated that Kathy was not strongly negative about Glen nor criticizing his parenting of their son. "In her distressed and tearful moments, there was also the periodic temptation by Kathy to just 'quit', to give Glen anything and everything he demanded in order to escape from the present sense of serious battle." (CT: 2172)

25. From August, 2000 to the conclusion of the trial, Glen involved the police at Kathy's residence for pickup and delivery of Taylor at least five or six times. (7 RT: 1244.) Dr. Gage stated that Taylor reported that police involvement is extremely upsetting to him.

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