2005

Kathleen Lenay Huish v. Glen Frank Munro : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

best interests.” R. 2790. Petitioner has made no attempt to counter this finding, which does no less than compel a modification of the existing custody order.

C. Estoppel Does Not Apply

Mr. Munro should not be estopped from alleging a substantial and material change in circumstance. Ms. Huish suggests that Mr. Munro deluded her into entering into a stipulation, all the time planning to thereafter “ambush” her with a petition to modify. Ms. Huish cites to no record evidence to support her quixotic view of Mr. Munro’s inner thoughts and intentions. In actuality, both parties were prepared for trial at the initial custody hearing, and appeared at the trial ready to go forward. However, with the assistance of the trial court, the custody evaluator, and counsel, the parties instead forged an agreement, which was read into the record and thereafter incorporated into the parties’ paternity decree. As the trial court found, the agreement incorporated, “in sum and substance” the recommendations of Dr. Carol Gage, who was the court-appointed custody evaluator in the initial custody phase. R.2788, ¶ 2. Mr. Munro made no misrepresentations of fact and had no ability to persuade Ms. Huish one way or the other during these drawn-out negotiations. Her decisions were made entirely upon the advice of her counsel, her own desires, her understanding of the custody evaluator’s recommendations, and the input she received from the trial court.

Furthermore, even if Mr. Munro had been cunning enough at the time the stipulation was entered to plan to later seek modify it, he did not unilaterally create the circumstances that warranted its modification. Clearly, Ms. Huish’s plan to move to Kwajalein was completely outside of Mr. Munro’s control. Further, as Dr. Christy

testified, the joint custody order did not function primarily because of Ms. Huish's actions, in particular, her steadfast refusal to communicate with Mr. Munro and treat him as a co-parent of their son. See R.3406:68.

Finally, for policy reasons, parties cannot be estopped from pursuing a modification of a detrimental custody order because they stipulated to it. Logic and our case law dictates, instead, that a stipulated order be more amenable to modification, not less, as the stipulated order is not based on evidence presented to the trial court and the resulting findings. And, were estoppel to be applied in these circumstances, parties would be deterred from resolving conflicts by negotiated settlement, which is clearly contrary to public policy.

III. THE COURT PROPERLY HEARD DR. CHRISTY'S TESTIMONY IN ITS CHANGED CIRCUMSTANCES DETERMINATION

Mr. Munro called Dr. Christy as his first witness at trial in his case in chief.

R. 3406:37. Dr. Christy's testimony addressed both whether a substantial and material change in circumstances had occurred, and whether a change in custody would be in Taylor's best interests. R. 3406:37-130,162-230. It was proper for the trial court to hear best interest testimony and change in circumstance testimony together, as our appellate courts have relaxed the bifurcation requirement when the original custody determination was not litigated. See Elmer v. Elmer, 776 P.2d 599, 604 (Utah 1989); Maughan v. Maughan, 770 P.2d 156, 160 (Utah App. 1989). The court summarized these holdings, stating: "[This] moderation of the evidentiary process is justified because the trial court

has not previously had an opportunity to make a through examination of the child's best interests." Cummings v. Cummings, 821 P.2d 472, 475 (Utah Ct. App. 1991).

Both Elmer and Maughan allowed the trial court to incorporate evidence on the best interests of the child within its change of circumstances determination. In Cummings, this court relaxed the bifurcation distinction even further, holding that a trial court, when reviewing a petition for modification of custody when custody had not been previously litigated, need not bifurcate where the evidence concerning both changed circumstances and best interests would be the same. See Cummings, 821 P.2d at 475. In such a circumstance, the trial court need only "conduct a separate analysis and make separate findings as to substantial change in circumstances." Id.

In this case, Dr. Christy's testimony concerned the non-functioning of the joint custody order, as well best interests factors relating to appropriate custody orders once joint custody was terminated. The trial court heard argument on these two distinct issues separately, proceeding to hear argument regarding best interests only after having made separate findings and conclusions pertaining to changed circumstances. Clearly, the court conducted a separate analysis and made separate findings as to changed circumstances, as directed by our appellate decisions, and the court did not err in permitting Dr. Christy to testify as to both issues. Such a bifurcation is not required.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT FINDINGS OF FACT ARE SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE AND ARE LEGALLY ADEQUATE

The trial court's findings of fact are sufficiently supported by the evidence and are legally adequate. Ms. Huish fails to meet her burden to prove that they are "so lacking in

support as to be against the clear weight of the evidence, and therefore, clearly erroneous.” Walton v. Walton, 814 P.2d 619, 621 (Utah Ct. App. 1991). Nor does Ms. Huish demonstrate that the findings are legally inadequate. Rather, the findings and the record establish that the court did not abuse its discretion in terminating the 2002 joint custody order and awarding sole legal custody of Taylor to Mr. Munro.

A. Finding No. 7

Ms. Huish contends the trial court did not address the salient factor of the duration of the initial physical custody arrangement, Taylor’s relative bond with his parents, in its findings and that this constitutes reversible error. See Appellant’s Brief at 31-34. Indeed, factors the trial court may consider in deciding whether to modify a custody arrangement are (1) identifying a strong bond with a particular parent, see Utah R. Jud. Admin. 4-903(5)(D), and (2) scrutinizing “a child’s need for stability,” by the duration of a prior custody arrangement, see Hudema v. Carpenter, 989 P.2d 491, 498 (Utah Ct. App. 1999). However, both rule 4-903 and Utah case law list numerous other factors that a trial court may consider, and the trial court need not consider each factor on equal footing. See id. “Generally it is within the trial court’s discretion to determine, based on the facts before it and within the confines set by the appellate courts, where a particular factor falls with the spectrum of relative importance and to accord each factor its appropriate weight.” Id.

The trial court analyzed several factors, and made several findings based on its analysis. Although typically, a court may emphasize maintaining the stability of a prior physical custody arrangement, in this matter it was of little or no significance because the

decree of paternity did not award sole physical custody of Taylor to Ms. Huish. Rather, the decree of paternity awarded each party substantial time with Taylor, with Mr. Munro having 10 days and 12 days per month in alternating months. The trial court therefore properly accorded this factor little weight.

The court also properly accorded the issue of bonding little weight. Dr. Christy's evaluation made clear that Taylor "appears to feel secure no matter which parent he is with" R.3380, at 4. Nor did any expert involved in the case identify a disparity in the level of bonding between the parties and Taylor. The court was not required, nor should it have, relied upon random and unilateral observations of Ms. Huish's friends to make findings contrary to the observations of neutral experts appointed to evaluate precisely these factors. Because the factor weighed in neither parties' favor, it was properly accorded little weight.

B. Finding No. 8

The trial court found that Ms. Huish's planned relocation to Kwajalein with the minor child, during the time the petition of modification was pending, constituted an additional change in circumstance that warranted modifying the decree. R. 2789. This finding is sufficiently supported by the evidence, being in fact undisputed, see, e.g., R. 3406:48-56; R.2205, and constitutes an additional ground for modification of the paternity decree.

As the court noted in its findings, Ms. Huish's decision, after a quick marriage, to uproot the parties' child and relocate halfway around the world to an extremely isolated atoll in the middle of the Pacific Ocean, followed by a turnabout in this position on the

first day of trial, evidenced a high degree of changeability, impulsivity, and lack of planning on her part. R.2797. It was not an abuse of the court's discretion to consider this evidence in its modification determination.

C. Finding No. 10

Ms. Huish takes issue with the court's finding that the current custody order, "has resulted in a high conflict, high stress situation that is not good for Taylor and must change for Taylor's best interests." R. 2790. Ms. Huish does not dispute the fact of the high conflict, but only that it is not good for Taylor, arguing that despite the conflict, Taylor is doing well, so the conflict must be okay.

Ms. Huish's views regarding the benefit to Taylor of his ongoing exposure to conflict are contradicted by all the testimony that was adduced on this topic. Dr. Gage testified that she agreed that "it is the consensus in the psychological research that dissension between the parents is harmful for children." R. 3410:855. Dr. Christy testified that "I think [Taylor] will become more and more aware of the conflict between his parents, and that is always unsettling for a child." R. 3406:76. At no point was any testimony adduced that supports Ms. Huish's novel position that the court erred in determining that the admittedly high conflict between the parties is not good for Taylor. This determination is clearly supported by the record, as well as common sense and human understanding, and is not an abuse of discretion.

D. Finding No. 11

The trial court stated in Finding 11 that it considered several factors, including those listed in Rule 4-903, in determining custody. See R. 2790. When the trial court

found that a particular factor was not significant in this case, it did not make a finding. See id. This does not constitute an erroneous legal conclusion as Ms. Huish contends, nor does it constitute an abuse of the court's discretion.

Ms. Huish challenges the trial court's failure to address the following factors: that Ms. Huish has had primary physical custody of Taylor since Taylor's birth; that Taylor is happy and doing well; and that Taylor is bonded to Ms. Huish and to his maternal grandmother. Although Taylor seems to be doing well in school, the lack of communication between his parents will continually cause him stress, as noted by Drs. Gage and Christy. See R. 3410:855; 3406:76. In Hudema v. Carpenter, the court emphasized that if the child has thrived in an existing arrangement, it should not be disturbed. See 989 P.2d 491, 499 (Utah Ct. App. 1999). Taylor has been in the unfortunate circumstance of being caught between his parents' failed communications in the past since the decree has been in place, which cannot be characterized as thriving. The court did not abuse its broad discretion in concluding that some factors were more significant than others in determining best interests.

E. Finding No. 13

The trial court determined that the preference of keeping Taylor together with his half-brother Patrick was not dispositive because of the children's age difference and time away from each other due to having different fathers. See R. 2790. Further, the trial court correctly concluded that these siblings could continue to have substantially similar time together with Mr. Munro being awarded primary physical custody by arranging Ms. Huish's parent-time schedule to coordinate with the time Patrick was in her care. Id. By

this, the trial court did not fail to consider this factor; rather, the trial court did not reach the conclusion pertaining to this factor that Ms. Huish urged. It was within the trial court's discretion to do so.

As this court noted in Hudema v. Carpenter, "The importance of the myriad of factors used in determining a child's best interests ranges from the possibly relevant to the critically important." Hudema, 989 P.2d 491 at 499. It is within the trial court's discretion to determine which factors carry more importance in a particular case. The court did not abuse its discretion in according this factor less weight given the circumstances present in this case.

F. Finding No. 15(a)

The evidence adequately supports the trial court's conclusion that Mr. Munro would best allow for Taylor to maintain frequent and continuing contact with Ms. Huish than the converse option. See R. 2790. The trial court's findings outline several subsidiary findings underlying this finding, all of which are amply supported by the record. For example, Dr. Christy testified that Mr. Munro would communicate better with Ms. Huish than the Ms. Huish would with him and that Mr. Munro was less negative about Ms. Huish than Ms. Huish was about him. See R. 3406:71; 3415:1674-78, 1852. "[T]he trial court's proximity to the witnesses and its opportunity to hear their testimony and observe their demeanor, places it in a far more advantaged position" to enter findings of fact. Shioji v. Shioji, 712 P.2d 197, 201 (Utah 1985). The trial court's findings will not be overturned if they are supported by the evidence.

It is Ms. Huish's burden to marshal the evidence supporting the trial court's finding to demonstrate that an abuse of discretion has occurred. Ms. Huish has failed to do this. The evidence she marshals – while partial only – amply supports the trial court's findings and outweighs the contradictory evidence. Further, the trial court's advantaged position in judging the credibility of the evidence cannot be gainsaid. The trial court had reason question Ms. Huish's credibility, as her testimony directly contradicted Dr. Christy's testimony on key points. See R.2797. And as much as Ms. Huish would like to change the record now, it nevertheless reveals that she called witness after witness to testify disparagingly about Mr. Munro. The finding is not an abuse of discretion.

G. Finding No. 15(b)

The trial court's finding that Ms. Huish is changeable and lacks stability is also amply supported by the record. Dr. Christy testified that Ms. Huish was more changeable than Mr. Munro. See R. 3406:55, 81. She also testified that Ms. Huish's emotional difficulties are not transitory, that she is "very insecure and becomes very distraught and emotional at any kind of . . . confrontation." 3415:1675-76. There was ample, additional evidence supporting this finding, both marshaled by Ms. Huish and not. The trial court did not abuse its discretion, after hearing this testimony and reviewing the evidence, in determining that Mr. Munro was better able to provide stability for Taylor.

H. Finding No. 15(c)

The trial court's findings of fact leading to its conclusion that Mr. Munro is more compliant with court orders than Ms. Huish is likewise sufficiently supported by the evidence. In this regard, this court may take judicial notice of the record on appeal,

which includes its own order of dismissal (with conditional reinstatement) due to Ms. Huish's pattern of contumacious conduct. In addition, the evidence marshaled by Ms. Huish, though partial, provides ample support for this finding.

I. Finding No. 16

In "custody matters, the trial court is accorded particularly broad discretion. Only where the trial court's judgment is so flagrantly unjust as to be an abuse of discretion" should the appellate court reverse. Shioji, 712 P.2d at 201. The trial court set forth its findings of fact at length, regarding both its grounds for modifying the decree and in finding that a change of custody was in Taylor's best interests. The findings as a whole support the trial court's conclusions and its carefully crafted custody award. The award is not an abuse of discretion and should be affirmed.

VI. MS. HUISH'S SPECIAL MASTER ARGUMENT IS INADEQUATELY BRIEFED, AND EVEN IF DEEMED ADEQUATE, MS. HUISH'S FAILURE TO OBJECT TO DR. HALE AFTER DISCLOSURE PRECLUDES HER FROM RAISING THIS ARGUMENT ON APPEAL

Ms. Huish failed to adequately brief her argument that Dr. Hale's actions as Special Master violated "canons of judicial ethics and so tainted the judicial process that Kathy was effectively deprived of her rights of due process." See Appellant's Brief, at 2.

Rule 24(a)(9) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure requires an appellant to state the grounds for review. Utah appellate courts have further explained that an inadequately briefed argument is one that is supported by "[a] single, vague sentence without citation to the record or legal authority," Peterson v. Sunrider Corp., 48 P.3d 918, 926 n.9 (Utah 2002); or one that fails to provide a "meaningful legal analysis" and

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